# 709**PESTICIDES IN** THE PANTRY: **TRANSPARENCY & RISK IN FOOD SUPPLY CHAINS**



# **Lead Author**



## Christy Spees, Environmental Health Program Manager, As You Sow

Christy Spees leads *As You Sow*'s Environmental Health Program, engaging investors and companies to ensure consumer safety from environmental contaminants, especially through agricultural practices. Christy has previously worked to promote clean and fair food and farming as an educator for Whole Foods Market. She was also a community organizer for urban farmers and farmers markets in Chicago, Illinois. She earned a Masters in Public Health from the University of Illinois at Chicago and a Bachelor of Arts in Writing from Illinois Weslevan University. Christy has also held positions as a Research Associate

with UIC's Institute for Health Research & Policy and as Health Equity Intern with Health & Medicine Policy Research Group.

# **Contributing Author**



#### Danielle Fugere, President and Chief Counsel, As You Sow

Danielle is President & Chief Counsel at *As You Sow*. She brings a wealth of experience in achieving broad and lasting change and in-depth knowledge of clean energy, conservation policy, toxic enforcement, and team building. Danielle served most recently as Executive Director of the Environmental Law Foundation. Prior, she was Legal Director and Regional Program Director for national nonprofit Friends of the Earth, where she spearheaded innovative legal strategies to reduce global warming pollution and directed campaigns to reduce pollution and promote sustainable alternative energies and fuels. Through her work,

Danielle has been instrumental in securing compliance with environmental laws and industry conversions to environmentally sound technologies, including a settlement with the City and County of Los Angeles resulting in a \$2.1 billion sewer system upgrade. Danielle was recognized with the WaterKeeper's Environmental Achievement Award in 2000 for her outstanding achievements protecting California waters from pollution and compelling polluters to assume the costs of environmental degradation. She holds a JD from the University of California, Berkeley School of Law and a BA in Political Economics from the University of California, Berkeley.

# Acknowledgements

This report was made possible by the generous support of the Clarence E. Heller Foundation, Marisla Foundation, and Rachel's Network. Additional support was provided by the Arkay Foundation, Arntz Family Foundation, Blue Summit Wealth Management, Firedoll Foundation, Hanley Foundation, The Libra Foundation, The Roddenberry Foundation, Singing Field Foundation, and the Thornton Foundation.

This report has benefitted by the suggestions and feedback of outside reviewers, who, at various stages of the report, offered technical advice, or otherwise contributed to the content of the report. They include (in alphabetical order by last name with affiliations for identification purposes only): Caroline Boden (Mercy Investments), Kara Cook (U.S. PIRG), Jared Fernandez (formerly Green Century Capital Management), Kendra Klein (Friends of the Earth), Margaret Reeves (Pesticide Action Network North America), Macy Zander (Green Century). This acknowledgement does not imply that reviewers agree with the entire content of the report.

Special thanks to *As You Sow* staff Jenny Chiu (Environmental Health Program Intern) for her research support and Jill Courtenay (Communications Manager) for her project management support. We would also like to thank Miriam Holzman-Sharman for copy-editing and John Opet for design.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
BACKGROUND	5
Risks of Pesticide Use	6
Human Health Harms	6
Environmental Harms	7
Economic Costs	8
Concerns Regarding Pesticide Regulation in the U.S.	9
Sustainability & Pesticide Reduction	10
Sustainable Solutions	10
Organic	11
Integrated Pest Management	11
Regenerative Agriculture	12
SCORES AND BENCHMARKS	
Overview	
Methods	
RESULTS	1/
Summary	15
1. Policies to Reduce Supply Chain Pesticide Use	15
2. Targets	
3. Tracking Pesticide Use Data in Supply Chains	
4. Glyphosate	
5. Integrated Pest Management	
6. Sustainable Sourcing Programs	
7. Crop-specific Sourcing Programs	24
8. Membership in Industry Sustainability Collaborative Groups	25
9. Regenerative Agriculture	26
RECOMMENDATIONS	28
Investors	28
Corporations	
Policy	
Consumers	
	00
CONCLUSION	
APPENDIX A	
ENDNOTES	

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Over one billion pounds of conventional pesticides<sup>1</sup> are used in the United States each year.<sup>2</sup> In the most recent year of data, Americans spent \$9 billion on pesticides for use in agriculture.<sup>3</sup> The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's biomonitoring has found pesticide residues in the bodies of 90% of Americans studied.<sup>4</sup>

Farming has not always required the intensive use of chemicals that constrains our farmers today. Humans have been growing food for over 10,000 years; it is only over the past 60 years that we have become dependent on a complicated and costly system of pesticide use. Following World War II, industrialization of agriculture and the introduction of pesticides (derived from chemicals invented as weapons), contributed to major growth in productivity and farm efficiency. But this shortcut has come with tremendous consequences. Science is now beginning to catch up with the myriad ways in which pesticides are harming humans, animals, and the environment. As new information exposes these growing risks, companies that rely on conventional agricultural supply chains are increasingly tied to these risks.

Pesticides in the Pantry: Transparency & Risk in Food Supply Chains is a report designed to examine the growing risks posed by the use of synthetic pesticides in agricultural supply chains to food manufacturers, and to provide benchmarks for improved management and transparency. Consumers, regulators, courts, and the media are paying increased attention to the human health and environmental harms caused by the intensive use of pesticides in agriculture. As a result, investors are calling on major food companies to reduce supply chain use of these chemicals to mitigate risk.

Pesticides in the Pantry scores 14 major U.S. food manufacturers on 30 performance indicators designed to measure how effectively companies are managing risk and advancing the interests of their stakeholders. Effective corporate management includes disclosure of robust strategies for the reduction of toxic pesticides and meaningful metrics for tracking performance and progress. The report also identifies alternative solutions to support supply chain producers in transitioning away from chemical-dependent farming systems.

**RESULTS:** In this inaugural year of benchmarking and reporting, companies' average scores were relatively low, with two top scoring companies leading by significant margins. The total possible score for any company was 30. Scores ranged from 18 to 0, and companies averaged a score of 6.1. The top scoring companies – and the only two to score above 10 – were General Mills (18) and PepsiCo (14); the laggards were Post and B&G Foods (0 each) followed by Kraft Heinz, Conagra, and J.M. Smucker (2 each).

While the majority of the companies have some form of sustainable sourcing program in place for their supply chains, most lack clear criteria and almost none include pesticide use as an indicator within those programs. The majority of companies scored for the report do not currently provide goals, strategies, or targets for the reduction of pesticide use; however, some companies have noteworthy practices, which the report outlines. Almost half of companies have some type of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) program, but only one IPM program explicitly aims to reduce synthetic pesticides. The majority of companies belong to an industry sustainability collaborative, and most have a sustainable sourcing program in place for one or more specific (often specialty) crops, which provides interesting insight into the potential for this sector to engage in effective sustainable sourcing initiatives.

# 2019 Scorecard

Company	Score
General Mills	18
PepsiCo	14
Del Monte	8
Lamb Weston	8
Kellogg's	8
Nestle	7
Mondelez	6
Campbell's	6
Hain Celestial	5
Kraft Heinz	2
ConAgra	2
J.M. Smucker	2
Post	0
B & G Foods	0

1. "Pesticides" includes all chemical products engineered to destroy any kind of agricultural pest (i.e. insecticides, herbicides, rodenticides, fungicides) and excludes natural or biological agents.

# BACKGROUND

In 2017, As You Sow produced Roundup Revealed, a report on glyphosate, the active chemical in the common weed killer 'Roundup,' and the most ubiquitous pesticide on the market. That report examined glyphosate's impacts on our food system and environment along with the pesticide's complex history, politics, and human health consequences. This report picks up where *Roundup Revealed* left off, with the goal of understanding how the broad range of pesticides in use today impact the food system, human health, the environment, investors, and corporations. It also provides benchmarks by which food manufacturers can be compared on their efforts to mitigate these risks in their supply chains. Readers are encouraged to reference the *Roundup Revealed* report for further information on the history of Roundup and a deeper review of the concerns regarding this specific pesticide.

# **GLYPHOSATE: A CASE STUDY**

Since 2017, a number of developments have made the pesticide Roundup a cautionary tale for both the agricultural industry and for shareholders invested in companies that promote or allow industrial-scale pesticide use in farming.

- A new study demonstrates a connection between glyphosate in pregnant women's urine and shorter-term pregnancies.<sup>5</sup>
- A report found deficiencies in EPA's process for reviewing glyphosate's safety (notably, that it relied heavily on industry-sponsored research rather than independent, peer-reviewed studies).<sup>6</sup>
- In June 2018, German Pharmaceutical company Bayer acquired Monsanto the company that manufactured Roundup for \$63 billion.
- Thousands of individuals have filed lawsuits claiming that Roundup caused their cancers. The first three cases ended in judgments against Bayer,<sup>7</sup> awarding billions of dollars in damages to plaintiffs.
- Since the acquisition of Monsanto, Bayer's share price has plummeted over 40%, and the Company's market capitalization is nearly equal to what it paid to acquire Monsanto.
- Consumer advocates have called out food companies for residues of glyphosate in common food products, especially those marketed to children.<sup>48</sup>
- Regulatory attention is growing.<sup>9</sup> Jurisdictions in over 30 countries have now adopted policies to ban or restrict glyphosate use, or are considering such action.<sup>10</sup> In the past two years, the following countries have established or announced new plans to ban or significantly restrict glyphosate nationally:
  - Austria ban effective January 2020
  - Czech Republic significant limits effective 2019
  - Denmark new restrictions implemented July 2018
  - France ban expected by 2021 with limited exceptions
  - Germany ban effective by 2023
  - Thailand expected to ban by end of 2019

As of the writing of this report, over 100 cities in the U.S. have announced local bans or restricted use of the chemical.<sup>11</sup>

 In the U.S., a group of major non-governmental organizations and food companies petitioned the EPA to sharply reduce the federal allowable amount of residual glyphosate on oats, and to prohibit the use of glyphosate as a pre-harvest drying agent.<sup>12</sup> A coalition submitted 150,000 public comments in response to the EPA's proposed interim registration review for glyphosate urging the administration to ban the pesticide.<sup>13</sup> A U.S. Congresswoman introduced legislation to require the EPA to take up these measures.<sup>14</sup>

# **Risks of Pesticide Use**

# **Human Health Harms**

Pesticides are intrinsically toxic. Engineered to kill unwanted species of plants and insects, it should be no surprise that these chemicals can also be harmful to humans. A growing body of scientific research connects pesticide exposures to many harmful human health effects including cancer, cardiovascular disease, birth and developmental defects, liver and kidney disease, and obesity.<sup>15,16,17</sup> Specifically, scientists have reported connections between pesticides and increased risk of leukemia, lymphoma, brain, kidney, breast, prostate, pancreas, liver, lung, and skin cancers.<sup>18</sup> Pesticides are also connected to endocrine disruption<sup>19</sup> (which impacts the body's regulation of hormones<sup>20</sup> and can cause complications for reproduction and fertility, including low birthweight) and neurodevelopmental damage in infants and children.<sup>21,22</sup> Pesticide exposure is not limited to direct contact. Pesticide residues have been found in drinking water, soil, rainwater, and a wide range of food products, making human exposure to these chemicals almost unavoidable. Increasingly of concern to consumers, food products that contain pesticide residues can be found across the supermarket; they include many produce items from spinach to cherries,<sup>23</sup> cereal and oatmeal, grains, beans,<sup>24</sup> and even flours and cooking oils.<sup>25</sup>

The agricultural workers and individuals who live, work, or play in areas of heavy pesticide use face even greater risk. Due to regular exposure to pesticides and acute poisonings, farmworkers face the most chemical-



related illnesses of any occupation in the U.S., and suffer between 10.000 and 20.000 pesticide poisonings per year.<sup>26,27</sup> The children and families of farmworkers also face higher exposure when pesticides are carried home on workers' clothes, hair, or skin.28 Outside of the U.S., risks can be even higher. **Developing countries** only use 25% of the world's pesticides yet experience 99% of deaths related to pesticides.29

Children are particularly susceptible to the health risks of exposure to

pesticides. Exposure during certain vulnerable periods of development can be particularly harmful, causing damage such as reduced psychomotor development and increased risk of behavioral disorders.<sup>30</sup> Children's exposure to pesticides through food, air, or water, also amounts to a higher dose relative to their size.<sup>31</sup>

Due to the wide use of so many different pesticides throughout the agricultural system, science has just begun to understand the health implications of combined exposures, including interactions between chemicals and long-term impacts of small dose exposures over the course of a lifetime.

Recent litigation against Bayer, manufacturer of the controversial pesticide Roundup, has demonstrated how the risks of pesticide use can impact investors financially. Three separate juries have found that glyphosate was responsible for causing individual plaintiffs' cancers, and only a year after Bayer acquired the original maker of Roundup (Monsanto), its stock has plummeted more than 40%.<sup>32,33</sup> Effectively, Bayer acquired not only toxic products but also a toxic brand. The company still faces over 18,000 lawsuits. While the risky business of pesticide production is several steps removed from food, consumer facing food businesses may face reputational risks from affiliation with this narrative. In fact, consumer advocacy groups are continually testing for pesticide residues and have called out major brands for trace amounts of Roundup present in common products.<sup>34</sup>

# **Environmental Harms**

The pervasive use of pesticides in agriculture also poses significant consequences for the environment, harming unintended plant and animal species, and threatening the long-term sustainability of food production. Studies have found connections between pesticides in the environment, reduced biodiversity and impacts on endangered species.<sup>35,36</sup> Specifically, common pesticides are tied to the devastating loss of pollinator species, which are essential to agricultural production.<sup>37,38,39</sup>

Conventional agricultural practices, typically dependent on heavy application of pesticides, have created a range of negative impacts on soil health — from undermining the health of biotic communities and creating a potentially catastrophic loss of topsoil,<sup>40</sup> to reducing the economic viability of farmers. Pesticides also damage

soil's ability to retain water and its potential for capturing carbon, two major components of climate resiliency.<sup>41</sup>

The consequences of synthetic pesticide use represent significant and growing costs, not only to society, but to the farmers themselves. These risks provide limited return as the benefits associated with any one pesticide are often short-lived. Weeds and insects develop resistance to pesticides used repeatedly to protect crops. Over time, as resistance develops, more intense and more frequent applications of the pesticide are required to eliminate the pest, until eventually the pesticide provides little or no effective pest control,42 and a new, potentially more potent chemical must take its place.43 Farmers facing glyphosate-resistant weeds have already begun to turn to



2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, or 2,4-D, as a replacement; this herbicide is one of the active ingredients in Agent Orange. Agent Orange is widely known for causing significant harm to veterans exposed during the Vietnam war.<sup>44</sup> According to research estimates, crop losses caused by pesticide resistance cost \$1.4 billion each year.<sup>45</sup> Pesticide applications can also harm neighbors' crops. When farmers apply dicamba, for example, to crops engineered to withstand it (e.g. genetically engineered soy), it is known to drift and cause significant damage to nearby crops that are not genetically modified. Dicamba drift damaged over one million acres of crops in just the first half of 2018.<sup>46</sup>

The environmental damage caused by pesticides creates significant operational risk to food companies. Crop supply chains reliant on heavy use of pesticides may be damaged by loss of pollinator species, degraded soil, and pesticide resistance. To ensure long-term supply reliability, especially in the face of climate-change related impacts that make growing food more difficult, it is imperative that food companies mitigate these risks now by moving supplier farms toward sustainable pest management practices which reduce chemical inputs. The seemingly never-ending cycle created by the adaptation of pests to chemical controls has been referred to as the "pesticide treadmill," in which farmers are beholden to agrochemical companies to continuously develop new, more toxic pesticides to maintain the same yields.

# **Economic Costs**

The use of pesticides is also costly financially. U.S. producers spent \$9 billion on pesticides in 2012 (the most recent year for which data is available).<sup>47</sup> Researchers have found evidence that despite drastic and costly increases in pesticide use, crop losses due to pests have continued to rise.<sup>48</sup>

Consolidation in the seed and pesticide industry threatens even greater cost increases to farmers, while commodity prices continue to stagnate, causing shrinking profit margins for farmers:<sup>49</sup>

"History shows us that seed industry consolidation leads to less choice and higher prices for farmers. [Chemical companies] also aggressively protect their IP rights, which means less innovation and more restrictions on how seed is used and exchanged, including for seed saving and research purposes. These restrictions affect conventional and organic agriculture alike by making a large pool of plant genetics inaccessible to public researchers, farmers, and independent breeders, which in turn limits the diversity of seed in our landscapes and marketplace and weakens our food security."<sup>50</sup>

Farm loan delinquencies and bankruptcies are on the rise in the U.S., and farmers are in need of a more financially stable and sustainable way to do business.<sup>51</sup> Reduced pesticide use is one important way to improve business stability, while providing concomitant health and environmental benefits. In many cases, researchers have found farmers are able to reduce pesticide use significantly, without sacrificing productivity.<sup>52</sup> One study found that farmers of pesticide-free regenerative operations had 78% higher profits than their conventional counterparts, and reduced insect pest populations tenfold.<sup>53</sup> The ability to raise food profitably, without massive pesticide dependence, is underscored by a United Nations' human rights report that outwardly denounces the "myth" that pesticides are necessary to feed the world's growing population.<sup>54</sup>

Another significant and growing cost is the loss of pollinators associated with pesticide use. Healthy pollinator species are necessary for the production of 87 of the top 115 global food crops, an estimated 35% of all global food production. Losing pollinators could mean losing their contribution of more than \$24 billion to the U.S. economy.<sup>55</sup>

The total costs to human health and the environment from pesticides, coupled with the financial costs to farmers of maintaining a system with high input needs, suggest that food companies can benefit from supporting farmers in shifting away from conventional methods of pesticide-dependent farming.

# **Concerns Regarding Pesticide Regulation in the U.S.**

Approximately 900 active ingredients and 20,000 pesticides are currently registered with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).<sup>56</sup> The EPA is charged with allowing the registration of pesticides only after determining that they will not pose unreasonable risks to human health or the environment. While this process is designed to safeguard Americans from harmful chemicals in agriculture, critics have raised a number of serious concerns about the level of protection the agency provides. Outside reviewers have argued that the EPA's consideration of the safety of a pesticide is frequently skewed by its process of accepting and relying primarily on research provided by the submitting companies;<sup>57</sup> such studies are frequently funded by, and draw conclusions favorable to, the industry itself. Critics argue that use of peer-reviewed, independent research would control bias more effectively than the current system.

Further, many pesticides avoid the formal registration requirements through a 'conditional registration' process. Conditional registrations are meant to allow for the use of pesticides without requiring thorough toxicity testing

in the case of a public health emergency. However, many pesticides are being approved through this process even when they are not necessary to address an emergent crisis. Such conditionally registered pesticides, which may cause harm to the environment and public health, can be used for years while they are being reviewed for safety.<sup>58</sup> As many as 65% of more than 16,000 pesticides were first approved for the market using this mechanism.<sup>59</sup>

The EPA is also responsible for establishing limits for pesticide residues in, or on, food, while the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is charged with enforcing these limits. Independent scientists and public health advocates have at times argued that the established limits are too high to truly protect consumer health, especially for children. As discussed in *Roundup Revealed*,<sup>60</sup> in the case of glyphosate, the EPA's Allowable Daily Intake (ADI) for glyphosate is 1.75 mg/kg of bodyweight/day – significantly higher than the European Union's ADI, which is 0.3 mg/kg/day. And even the EU's ADI level is considered too high by scientists.

The United States, one of the world's four top producers and users of pesticides, lags other developed nations in regulating pesticide use. A recent report found that the United States allows the use of dozens of pesticides that have been banned in the other three top pesticide-producing markets (the EU, China, and Brazil). This gap results from differences in pesticide approval criteria, which in other markets emphasize a higher burden of proof that substances will not pose harm to humans, animals, or the environment.<sup>65</sup> In the As with many powerful industries, agribusiness has significant lobbying power to influence the very regulations that govern it. In 2018, producers of agricultural products spent over \$37 million on lobbying far more than any other food-related sector. The money that industry spends far outweighs that of consumer protection interests. For example, when California legislators reviewed regulation of the pesticide Chlorpyrifos, consumer health advocates spent \$21,000 on lobbying, while Dow Chemical spent \$1.2 million.<sup>62</sup> In the current federal administration, individuals with close industry connections have risen to powerful agency positions, contributing to significant efforts in deregulation.<sup>63</sup> Despite the outmatched resources in the regulatory arena, consumers continue to seek healthier food choices, including reduced pesticide use.64

U.S., states and local jurisdictions have enacted measures that go beyond the federal regulations to address this shortcoming. In the case of Chlorpyrifos - a pesticide tied to neurodevelopmental harm in infants and children - several states have enacted bans, and several others are considering such action, while the federal government continues to allow use of the chemical.<sup>66</sup> As consumer awareness grows, and the public demands better government oversight, the agricultural sector faces the potential for more stringent health and safety regulation of pesticides. Those companies whose suppliers are not prepared will face difficulties.



# **Sustainability & Pesticide Reduction**

A tenant of modern commerce is that companies thrive when they consider all of their stakeholders in decision-making. When a company invests in its people, the communities it impacts, and the environment, everyone benefits. Food manufacturers have begun addressing sustainability in their supply chains in a variety of ways including preventing deforestation, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and reducing water and energy use. Pesticide reduction, however, has been nearly absent from company sustainability policies and their reporting to investors. This oversight opens up significant avenues for liability and regulatory risk, and is inconsistent with consumer trends and investor concerns. According to Consumer Reports, 89% of people think it is critical to protect the environment from chemicals, and 86% think it is critical to reduce pesticide exposure and support fair working conditions.<sup>67</sup> Food manufacturers have been under fire in the media after consumer advocacy organizations began testing and reporting on pesticide residues found in consumer products, especially those marketed to children.<sup>68,69</sup> This attention has led to increased reputational and legal risks for these companies. Addressing pesticide use answers these calls to action while also improving soil health, creating resiliency in the face of climate change, and protecting communities and the environment.

# **Sustainable Solutions**

'Sustainable sourcing' and 'sustainable agriculture' are terms commonly used by food companies to describe the production practices employed in the sourcing of their agricultural products. The word "sustainable," however, does not clearly convey what standards are expected of suppliers and producers implementing sustainability measures, what goals are sought, and whether progress is being measured and achieved. Sustainability may run the gambit from reducing greenhouse gas emissions to limiting the use of energy, water, or pesticides in operations, to reducing biodiversity loss and water pollution, among others. Meaningful corporate sustainability commitments should clearly and fully define expectations and how progress is evaluated and measured.

# Organic

Certified organic farming is the most well-known and well-established system for growing food without the use of synthetic pesticides. The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) governs the definitions and rules for certification of organic practices, including listing substances that are prohibited. In organic practices, natural substances are permitted, while synthetic substances are prohibited (including pesticides) in most instances.<sup>70</sup> Instead of relying on synthetic chemicals, organic farmers use ecological practices such as rotating crops, increasing crop diversity, fostering natural predators of pests, and building soil health to improve plant immunity in order to control pests naturally. Organic farms protect farmworkers and consumers from the health harms of pesticides and support pollinator health. Research has shown that these goals can be met without sacrificing productivity and profitability.

Food companies can invest in organic agriculture to promote sustainability by choosing to source organic ingredients, or by supporting farmers in transitioning land to organic practices. Organic offers an advantage to companies because it is both certifiable through existing federally recognized methods, and has name recognition with consumers. In fact, consumer demand for organic products has seen double-digit growth during most years since the 1990s. Currently, organic products account for over 4% of total U.S. food sales and a higher share in some categories.<sup>71</sup>

# **Integrated Pest Management**

Integrated Pest Management ("IPM") is increasingly touted by food companies as a strategy for improving sustainability in supply chains. However, the term is ambiguous in its meaning and can cause confusion as to what the term means to companies or their suppliers. There is neither an industry-wide, accepted definition of IPM, nor a regulatory framework governing claims regarding IPM adoption. The EPA provides the following description:

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is an effective and environmentally sensitive approach to pest management that relies on a combination of common-sense practices. IPM programs use current, comprehensive information on the life cycles of pests and their interaction with the environment. This information, in combination with available pest control methods, is used to manage pest damage by the most economical means, and with the least possible hazard to people, property, and the environment.<sup>72</sup>

Such a definition leaves significant room for interpretation. "Most economical" and "least possible hazard," for example, might be defined differently depending upon whether accounting for short-term and/or long-term costs (both financial and social) and whether including externalities (such as harms to public health). This lack of clarity allows for wide variation in how IPM treats pesticides. As an example, an advocacy organization might claim that an IPM program should eliminate or drastically reduce the use of chemical pesticides,<sup>73</sup> while an agrochemical company might emphasize the importance of the use of pesticides as a vital part of IPM.<sup>74</sup> When food companies ask or require suppliers to implement IPM programs as a means of addressing pesticide risks, it is vital that clear goals, standards, and metrics are provided, especially as to whether suppliers must reduce pesticide use.

# **Regenerative Agriculture**

Regenerative agriculture, a framework which is becoming more commonly adopted, seeks to reverse the environmental harms of conventional farming, replenishing soil health, improving biodiversity, and increasing farmer profitability. While there is currently no industry-wide definition of 'regenerative agriculture,' common methods include cover cropping, minimizing or avoiding tilling of the soil, integrated livestock, and crop diversification. Regenerative systems are touted as a way to reduce topsoil loss and degradation and to pull carbon from the air into the soil, reversing some of agriculture's contribution to climate change. As of this

report, there is a lack of clarity or consensus on whether regenerative agriculture can be successful in tandem with the use of chemical pesticides.<sup>75</sup> Some proponents argue that strategies like no-till or cover cropping can be useful while continuing pesticide use; others argue that the use of pesticides nullifies the positive benefits of increased biodiversity and healthier soil ecosystems.<sup>76</sup>

Regenerative strategies undertaken without the use of pesticides have been shown to be more effective at controlling pests than chemical-intensive conventional farming.<sup>77</sup> Given the variations in regenerative practices, it is critical that any company investing in such practices clearly define



and disclose which strategies will be adopted, including explicitly stating whether pesticides will be reduced or eliminated, and how success will be measured.

There is growing recognition that the current system of pesticide-dependent farming practices must be replaced with healthier, less harmful methods to ensure the success and future viability of food companies. The problems of pesticide use raise risks from litigation on health and environmental damages, to changing consumer demands for healthy foods and reputational loss, to increasingly less effective crop production, especially in the face of climate change. Shareholders recognize there are a wide variety of ways to successfully approach the problems associated with pesticide-dependent farming methods. A clear set of disclosures on actions taken and successes achieved will assist shareholders in understanding how well these important issues are being managed by food companies.

# **SCORES AND BENCHMARKS**

# Overview

This report benchmarks major food manufacturers on the adoption of practices to measure and mitigate risks related to the use of synthetic pesticides in agricultural supply chains. By scoring a consistent set of questions related to company strategies and disclosure, the report provides a picture of overall industry performance, distinguishes industry leaders from laggards, and provides examples of notable practices. This report also aims to highlight risks and create a pathway for improved performance to support investors in advocating for long-term value.

14 companies were scored on a total of 30 indicators. Scores are based on a thorough review of publicly available content, including companies' published reports, press statements, and website text. In the case of international companies, U.S. specific information was used where available; if the company did not clearly differentiate between U.S. and global policies, the latter were reported.

# **Methods**

The following 14 companies are included in this review (listed alphabetically): B&G Foods, Campbell's Soup Company, Conagra Brands, Del Monte Foods, General Mills, The Hain Celestial Group, The Kellogg Company, Kraft Heinz Company, Lamb Weston, Mondelez International, Nestlé, PepsiCo, Post Holdings, Inc., and The J.M. Smucker Company. Each company was given the opportunity to review the information compiled in this report and to provide additional information or clarification.

Questions were written to elicit key information about supply chain pesticide use. First, we determine whether companies have a policy to reduce the use of pesticides in their supply chain. This deliberate recognition of pesticide use as an issue to be addressed is a critical first step on a company's path toward identifying solutions.

Public statements demonstrate an important level of accountability, but must be followed by strategies for achieving and measuring progress. For this reason, we also ask each company to describe how it will reduce pesticide use, and if it measures the effectiveness of its actions through identified targets and goals. General statements of intent, without measurement, provide an inadequate means of assessing progress.

Investors recognize the reputational risk posed to a company by promoting its policies as 'sustainable' without meaningful disclosure of the practices that ensure sustainability. Collecting and reporting quantitative data allows companies to demonstrate actual progress. We include several questions regarding data collection to identify those companies that have mechanisms in place for tracking pesticide use on supplier farms. Additional criteria address whether a company collects data through a third party verified method to better ensure reporting accuracy.

Certain companies have adopted programs that may reduce synthetic pesticide use, including sustainable sourcing, regenerative agriculture, or IPM. In each case, companies earned more points for programs that clearly and publicly delineate the elements of the program and provide metrics by which progress on pesticide reduction from such programs is measured. Other important components include whether companies require supplier farms to participate in the program, or have set targets for supplier participation.

The full list of questions can be found in Appendix A.

RESULTS	G Foods	mpbell's	nAgra	il Monte	neral Mills	in Celestial	s'ggoll	aft Heinz	mb Weston	ondelez ernational	istlé	psiCo	st	nuckers
Question	B	ပီ	ပိ	õ	ບຶ	На	Ke	X	La	ΣĘ	Ň	Pe	Ъ	Sn
Theme: Pesticide Reduction Policy														
<ol> <li>Do you have a stated policy to reduce the use of synthetic pesticides in your agricultural supply chains?</li> </ol>				•	•							•		
a. Do you publicly describe the methods used to achieve the goals of your policy?				•	•							•		
b. Does your commitment encompass all suppliers?					•							•		
c. Do you measure the effectiveness of your program in achieving the goal of reduced pesticide use?				•	•									
Theme: Goals and Targets														
<ol><li>Do you have a specific commitment, target, or goal to reduce synthetic pesticides?</li></ol>									•					
a. Is the policy time-bound?									•					
b. Does your policy include prioritization of chemicals for reduction?														
Theme: Pesticide Use Tracking														
<ol> <li>Do you track pesticide use in your agricultural supply chains?</li> <li>a. Do you require suppliers to provide quantitative data about their posticide use?</li> </ol>					•	•	•			•				
b. Is supplier pesticide use data audited by a third party?														
b. Do you disclose data to investors and/or the public?				•	•	•				-				
Theme: Glyphosate Policy														
4. Do you have a supplier standard regarding the use of glyphosate- based herbicides?														
<ul> <li>a. Does your standard include reduction of glyphosate use pre-harvest?</li> <li>b. Do you track suppliers' use of glyphosate?</li> </ul>							•							
Theme: Integrated Pest Management Program							-							
5. Do you have an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) program														
applicable to suppliers?				-		-								
<ul> <li>a. Are the definitions and guidelines or your IPM program public?</li> <li>b. Does the program's guidelines include reduction of synthetic</li> </ul>					•							•		
pesticides?				•										
c. Is adoption of IPM required of suppliers?												•		
d. Do you have outlined targets for IPM adoption?												•		
e. Do you report on supplier implementation of IPM?					•							•		
Theme: Sustainable Sourcing Program														
agricultural supply chains?		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•
program public?		•		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		
b. Is your sustainable sourcing program required of all suppliers?											•	•		
<ul> <li>Do you have outlined targets for the adoption of the program?</li> <li>Does your sustainable sourcing program include targets or goals</li> </ul>		•			•		•		•		•	•		
e. Do you collect information to measure the effectiveness of your		•			•		•	•	•	•	•	•		
program?														
Theme: Grop-specific Sustainable Sourcing     Do you have a sustainable sourcing program for one particular crop     (are pairs of the sustainable sourcing program for one particular crop														
(e.g. Paim Oil)?														
Theme: Industry Sustainability Collaborative Membershin														
8. Are you a member of an industry agricultural sustainability collaborative?		•	•		•		•		•		•	•		•
Theme: Regenerative Agriculture Program														
9. Do you have a regenerative agriculture program?														
a. Are the definitions and guidelines of your regenerative agriculture program public?					•									
b. Do you have targets for supplier adoption of regenerative agricultural practices?					•									
TOTALS	0	6	2	8	18	5	8	2	8	6	7	14	0	2

# Summary

In this first year of benchmarking and reporting, companies' average scores were relatively low, with two companies, out of 14, leading by significant margins. The total possible score for any company was 30. Scores ranged from 18 to 0, and companies averaged a score of 6.1. The top scoring companies – and the only two to score above 10 – were General Mills (18) and PepsiCo (14); the laggards were Kraft Heinz, Conagra, and J.M. Smucker (2 each), followed by Post and B&G Foods (0 each).

## 1. Policies to Reduce Supply Chain Pesticide Use

As outlined above, pesticide use raises a broad range of risks, from health impacts to environmental harms and reputational risks. Consumers are seeking cleaner, more natural foods that are grown sustainably. Consumer advocacy groups are actively testing products and have targeted food manufacturers when pesticide residues are found in popular processed foods. Consumers have filed class action lawsuits against companies that produce food products that claim natural ingredients, but allow the use of pesticides (as evidenced by residues remaining in the final product). This sector clearly faces both risks related to pesticide use and an opportunity to improve consumer loyalty through commitments to reduce or avoid pesticide use.

#### **Questions:**

To understand whether companies are aware of the risks related to supply chain pesticide use and are committed to addressing these risks, we ask if each company has a stated policy to reduce the use of pesticides in its supply chains. Additional criteria include whether the company describes the methods used to achieve this goal; whether all suppliers are part of this policy; and whether the company measures the effectiveness of its policies in reducing pesticide use.



# **Aggregate Company Scores: Pesticide Reduction Policy**

#### Discussion:

The majority of food manufacturers have not explicitly addressed the issue of pesticide use in their supply chains, or publicly disclosed actions to reduce the use or impact of pesticides. Many, however, claim the application of sustainable agriculture practices. Companies that tout sustainable agriculture practices without addressing the need to reduce pesticide use run the risk of being perceived as "greenwashing" in addition to other clear risks associated with pesticide use in food supply chains.

Only three companies explicitly address the issue of reducing the use of synthetic pesticides in their supply chains:

• **Del Monte**: "We have been a pioneer in introducing agricultural practices that minimize use of pesticides."<sup>78</sup>

- **General Mills**: "We have strategies in place to reduce synthetic pesticide use, and we work with trusted agronomists and other experts to implement continuous improvement practices throughout our supply chain."<sup>79</sup>
- **PepsiCo**: "PepsiCo seeks continuous improvement in agricultural practices to minimize chemical use and its potential impacts while protecting the crops that are vital to food production."<sup>80</sup>

Of those companies with a stated intention to reduce pesticide use, only two provide evidence that they measure the effectiveness of the company's strategies in some way:

- **Del Monte**: The company provides individual examples of successful reductions in pesticide use through targeted strategies, e.g. " "Over the last 50 years, we have reduced our spraying from an average of 7 applications, with a total of 2 kilograms of active pesticidal ingredient, to 1.5 applications and 90 grams of active ingredient.<sup>81</sup>
- **General Mills** outlines metrics it intends to use to measure future progress and provides evidence of successful reductions to date:
  - The company provides annual totals for pounds of pesticide use avoided per year, based on transitioning crop acreage to organic (e.g. 575,000 pounds avoided in 2018).<sup>82</sup>
  - Metrics for their regenerative agriculture program participants include "type/name of input used (fertilizer, herbicide, fungicide, pesticide, or biological amendment), amount & method used, cost and date of application. For pesticides & fungicides – pest or disease being controlled and reason for application (i.e. economic impact vs. following application schedule)."<sup>83</sup>

Companies benefit from being clear about their goals and actions. Where a company has a pesticide reduction goal in place, that goal should be accompanied by strategies for reducing the use of synthetic pesticides in agricultural supply chains, and quantitative metrics to demonstrate year-over-year trends in pesticide use.

## 2. Targets

Targets incentivize action and allow measurement of progress toward desired goals. Without quantitative targets, corporate commitments can appear less meaningful to employees, management, and consumers. Targets also underscore management's commitment to accomplishing a stated goal, inspire focused planning, the creation of milestones, and adoption of actions to achieve those goals. It is often the case that companies with generalized goals or statements are less likely to produce results than those that make measurable, time-bound commitments.

#### **Questions:**

This question asks whether companies have specific targets or goals to reduce pesticide use. If so, do such targets have deadlines and are any chemicals prioritized for reduction.

## **Aggregate Company Scores: Goals and Targets**



#### Discussion:

While no company currently has a specifically measurable commitment or target for pesticide use reduction, one company is notable for having a general, time-bound commitment to reduce pesticide use.

• Lamb Weston: aims to achieve a "downward trend" in pesticide use by 2030.84

In this case, however, the lack of specificity of the goal in terms of outcomes may be insufficient to motivate significant progress since any reduction over time, no matter how small, could be understood to satisfy the goal. It is also important to note the company reports this goal only on the website for its Europe market, and it is not clear whether the same effort is being made across the full supply chain.

#### Notable Practices:

While the food industry lacks specific pesticide reduction standards, one company outside the scope of this report provides a positive example of clear metrics for its supply chain. **Unilever's**<sup>85</sup> Global Guidelines on Use of Pesticides in Sustainable Tea Sourcing ("Guidelines") provides targets for the phase out of certain classes of pesticides (as determined by the World Health Organization), with time limits:

- "By the end of 2014 the use of pesticides listed under WHO1a, WHO1b, POP or PIC will not be permitted in tea production for Unilever.
- Within three years [of publication of the Guidelines], suppliers must provide evidence of tangible progress in reduction of use (or elimination where possible) of any pesticides included in WHO Class II or III. By 2020 at the latest, Unilever will only source tea which is traceable to sustainable sources"<sup>86</sup>

#### 3. Tracking Pesticide Use Data in Supply Chains

What gets measured gets managed. For companies to successfully demonstrate to investors that they are reducing the risks of pesticide use in the growing of their food products, it is essential companies create clear channels for receiving and recording data from their growers.

#### **Questions:**

This question asks whether companies are tracking pesticide use data in agricultural supply chains. If so, do companies disclose whether their suppliers are required to provide quantitative data about pesticide use; whether that data is audited by an independent third-party to ensure accuracy; and whether such data is disclosed by companies to shareholders and the public.



# **Aggregate Company Scores: Pesticide Use Tracking**

#### Discussion:

Five companies have reported some kind of protocol for collecting farm-level data regarding pesticide use, though each reported program is limited in scope (i.e. none apply to the company's full supply chain)

- **General Mills**: As part of its regenerative agriculture initiative, the company produced the "Regenerative Agriculture Measurement Protocol." Applied to 51 farms in the first year, measurements include pesticide application data (i.e. type of pesticide used, amount and method used, cost and date of application, pest/disease being controlled, and reason for application).<sup>87</sup>
- **Mondelez International**: The company reported quantitative reductions in pesticide use for participants in the Harmony Wheat program (which focuses on sustainable agriculture specific to European wheat farmers). The company does not explain how data is collected, but the report of aggregate results was enough to demonstrate that the company is collecting data.
  - "To date, Harmony farmers in Europe have achieved a 20 percent reduction in pesticide use, and in 2016, 21 million bees and 27 species of butterflies were observed in Harmony fields."<sup>88</sup>
- **Kellogg**: The company asks one general question of farmers in its annual grower survey regarding pesticides.
  - "What type of pesticides do you use?" (response options include "I apply organic pesticides," "I apply synthetic pesticides," "I apply organic and synthetic pesticides," or "I do not apply pesticides")<sup>89</sup>
- Lamb Weston: The company collects data on pesticides (which it refers to as "plant protection products" or PPPs) through its Sustainable Agriculture Plan. This action is reported on the company's website for its European market and may only apply to those crops sourced in Europe.
  - "Plant Protection products (PPPs): We are measuring the use of PPPs in quantity (amount of active ingredients used), as well as their environmental impact."<sup>90</sup>
- Hain Celestial: The company reported data on its rice initiative in India demonstrating a reduction in pesticides. This must have required tracking for comparison.
  - "In the crop year 2017, the project participants realized an approximate 80% reduction in pesticides use."

#### Notable Practices:

The measurements being collected by **General Mills** represents the most comprehensive set of metrics of pesticide use data disclosed by any company in the group of food manufacturers assessed in this report. General Mills:

- Outlines the specific measurements that will be taken and their frequency
- · Commits to reporting annually to demonstrate results, and
- Provides technical support and tools to farmers for implementing data collection

#### 4. Glyphosate

Glyphosate is the most widely used herbicide in agriculture, and has been the source of significant controversy over recent years. *As You Sow* reported on the history of this chemical's use, the scientific debate regarding its safety, and implications for investors in the 2017 report, *Roundup Revealed*. As an issue of consumer and public concern, it is important for shareholders to receive information as to whether companies have chosen to implement policies or practices to reduce exposure to and use of glyphosate.

In particular, food manufacturers have been called out recently by consumer advocates for the presence of glyphosate residues in food products. The practice of spraying glyphosate on crops directly before harvest has led to increased residues on grain-based products. The herbicide is not, in fact, engineered for this use, but it has become common practice in some regions as it helps crops dry evenly and quickly for harvest. Given the relationship between this practice and residues on food, it is considered a particular risk.

#### **Question:**

This question asks companies whether they have a supplier standard regarding use of glyphosate-based herbicides. If so, do companies report whether such policy includes reduction of glyphosate pre-harvest; and whether the company tracks farmers' use of glyphosate.

# **Aggregate Company Scores: Glyphosate Policy**



#### Discussion:

Only one company (Kellogg) asks its growers whether they use glyphosate.

- Kellogg: The company conducted a survey asking its suppliers two questions related to glyphosate in its annual grower survey:<sup>91</sup>
  - "Do you use glyphosate to improve crop harvest?" (possible responses are yes or no)
  - "Do you use glyphosate to...(select all that apply)" (possible responses include "assist in managing weather impacts," "improve crop quality," "help dry grain," "late season weed control," or " pre-emergent weed control in conjunction with minimal tillage/conservation agriculture practices"

Despite a growing concern about glyphosate's impacts on people and the environment; the recent reporting of glyphosate residues in popular food products; and the legal, health, environmental, and reputational risks associated with glyphosate use, food manufacturers' disclosures do not indicate that they specifically address or limit farmers' use of glyphosate. Shareholders will benefit from understanding whether companies are addressing the use of glyphosate in the supply chain, and if not, why companies are not addressing it. In some cases, companies may believe that a focus on programs to generally reduce pesticide use is preferable than focusing on any individual chemical. Such disclosure is useful to shareholders in understanding whether, and how, food companies are reducing risk.

#### Notable Practices:

Across the board, other than **Kellogg's** reporting on its supply chain questionnaire, there is a dearth of notable practices concerning glyphosate use. To balance the need for systemic reduction of pesticide use with the pressing concerns raised by individual pesticides, it may make sense for companies to approach supply chain pesticide use reduction through a tiered approach that prioritizes chemicals of high concern. Referring back to an earlier example, **Unilever's** Global Guidelines on Use of Pesticides in Sustainable Tea Sourcing uses such an approach. Glyphosate, for the reasons discussed, is an important candidate for such singular attention.

## 5. Integrated Pest Management

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is a component of many sustainable agriculture policies in the food industry. However, there is no industry-accepted standard or definition for what IPM entails, or what its goals are. Given how commonly IPM is used in agricultural supply chains, it is important that shareholders receive sufficient information to understand whether a company's IPM program seeks to reduce pesticides, or is focused primarily on encouraging farmers to maximize efficiency and reduce costs of pesticide management. Given the variety of definitions of IPM, it is incumbent upon companies to be clear about the purpose, goals, and metrics of their IPM programs.

#### Questions:

This question asks whether companies have an IPM program in place. If so, do companies disclose whether that program is required of suppliers (as opposed to voluntary or suggested); are guidelines of the program specified; and what percentage of suppliers participate in the program.



# **Aggregate Company Scores: Integrated Pest Management Program**

## Discussion:

Six companies named IPM as a strategy used in their supply chains. The majority of these companies encourage or suggest that suppliers use IPM, while only one (PepsiCo) requires that its suppliers adopt the program. Even then, the company offers no mechanism to ensure compliance.

- **PepsiCo**: The company describes a program requiring implementation of IPM from all suppliers, though the company reports it has not achieved full compliance. The company does not appear to have set goals associated with IPM, nor does it disclose specific guidelines, or explicitly comment on whether IPM should include reduced reliance on chemical pesticides. Importantly, the company does not outline any specific mechanisms for enforcement of the requirement, including whether contracts will be impacted.
  - "Farmers' compliance with our IPM requirement has improved from 55% to 66% globally, including nearly 100% compliance in the U.S."<sup>92</sup>
- **General Mills**: The company notes that it supports IPM practices and provides examples of IPM methods, including reduced need for pesticides, but it does not specifically describe or require implementation of these strategies (instead encouraging them through research and education).

- "Integrated pest management (IPM) strategies such as biological control, changing farmer behavior, and the use of resistant varieties – minimize the threat of pests and the need to use pesticides on crops. General Mills has been a leader in supporting IPM practices for decades. We fund IPM research, share results and work with our suppliers and conservation organizations to drive progress."93
- **Kellogg**: The company mentions that it is engaging farmers in adopting IPM, but does not disclose that it requires any specific implementation, nor does it disclose defined goals, targets, or guidelines to its suppliers.
  - "Specifically, we're engaging farmers to adopt practices that promote pollinator health like integrated pest management and creating pollinator strips along field edges."<sup>94</sup>
- **Del Monte**: The company states that it helps growers adopt IPM, but does not require implementation, nor define specific goals or guidelines of such a program. It does, however, state that minimization of pesticides is a goal of IPM practices.
  - "We help growers apply the principles of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) to minimise the amount of pesticides used to control insects, other pests and crop diseases."<sup>95</sup>
- Campbell's: The company asks its suppliers to try to use IPM strategies. No goals, targets, or guidelines are disclosed.
  - "Suppliers shall try to use advanced integrated pest management techniques, such as regular crop scouting by a certified scout, pest prevention techniques, and biological control."<sup>96</sup>
- Hain Celestial: The company reports that it works with suppliers to adopt IPM.
  - "We continue to work closely with many of our long-term vendors to ensure compliance to our rigorous pesticide standards. This includes ensuring GAP (Good Agricultural Practices), including implementation of IMP (Integrated Pest Management) programs that rely on mechanical methods of intervention as an initial method to control pests."

#### Notable Practices:

None of the companies surveyed provide a robust example of successfully using Integrated Pest Management to reduce supply chain pesticide use.

A meaningful IPM program would include the following:

- 1. A definition of what IPM means in the context of the company and its suppliers, including a goal of reducing the use of synthetic pesticides
- 2. Guidelines that include voluntary and mandatory practices for suppliers to adopt to achieve the program goals
- 3. Targets for supplier participation which aim to reach the full supply chain
- 4. Mechanisms for monitoring and enforcing the program requirements
- 5. Metrics for demonstrating progress

An example from another sector is useful to demonstrate the elements of a robust IPM program. **Sysco**, a food service provider, worked with the IPM Institute to develop and implement an IPM program for its supply chain. The program includes clear goals, guidelines, and expectations for implementation, and the company is able to report on the program's impact on pesticide use:

"Participating suppliers must track their pesticide use, with the goal of limiting the quantity applied or using lower-toxicity-level products when possible. In the 2017 growing season, our suppliers reported avoiding 5.1 million pounds of pesticides by utilizing IPM principles."<sup>97</sup>

#### 6. Sustainable Sourcing Programs

A number of food companies publicly state they currently source certain percentages (even up to 100%) of individual crops "responsibly" or "sustainably." While these claims seem impressive, the companies' reporting generally lacks clear requirements that a supplier must meet to be deemed sustainable. In the few cases where some level of sustainability metrics is provided, the issue of pesticides is not addressed. This question attempts to better define the term "sustainable" sourcing to understand how companies are interpreting and measuring sustainable sourcing.

#### **Questions:**

Companies are asked whether they have a "sustainable sourcing" program (by any name); are definitions and guidelines of the program specified; if every supplier is required to comply with the program; does the program include targets for supplier adoption; does the program include targets for reduction of synthetic pesticides; is data gathered to measure the effectiveness of the program.



# Aggregate Company Scores: Sustainable Sourcing Program

#### Discussion:

Almost all companies surveyed had some type of sustainable agriculture program for their agricultural supply chains. Only two companies – Post and B&G Foods – do not. Of the companies with programs, there is significant variation in whether the program is required to be followed by suppliers, what guidelines exist, and whether there are metrics for measuring progress.

Three companies, Conagra, Kraft Heinz, and J.M. Smucker mention a sustainable agriculture program, but lack detailed information regarding how each defines sustainable agriculture or what guidelines, principles, and/or goals are used in the program. These disclosures are particularly problematic as they tout responsibility in agricultural sourcing without evidence of what supplier actions are required or encouraged and what degree of uptake the company has achieved. A company's "sustainability program" might include a wide range of standards, but mere compliance with current laws does not qualify as a meaningful sustainability program. Laws and regulations governing conventional agricultural

practices have failed to ensure health or environmental sustainability. Where sustainability programs require efforts beyond current laws, it is important for companies to describe the elements of those programs. Similarly, identification of issue areas, without clarity as to the programs and metrics used to address them, provide insufficient information for investors to conclude that company programs are effectively increasing the sustainability of practices on the ground. This uncertainty around the term "sustainability" underscores the need for companies to disclose what the term means.

- **Conagra**: The company describes internal processes to pursue responsible sourcing, but the company's supplier code of conduct only has this to say about sustainability:
  - "Conagra Brands expects that its suppliers will act in an environmentally responsible manner. At a minimum, this means suppliers who are in compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, and who have the commitment as well as the ability to remediate any environmental problems they may cause."<sup>98,99</sup>
- **Kraft Heinz**: In its 2017 Corporate Social Responsibility report the company notes it has an agricultural program, but does not provide links or details of the program.
  - "The Kraft Heinz Global Agriculture Program ensures key crops used in Kraft Heinz products are safe for consumers and helps suppliers and their farmers increase productivity."<sup>100</sup>

Since the term "safe for consumers" can be interpreted in many ways, it is important to be clear about the term. For example, does the company define "safe" as compliance with existing regulatory requirements, or with more protective standards? Ben and Jerry's (a Unilever brand) 2017 announcement that it will not purchase ingredients from suppliers who use glyphosate as a pre-harvest drying agent, even though this practice is allowed by the EPA,<sup>101</sup> provides an example of a company safety standard that goes beyond current law (although, it is unclear whether the company has yet to fulfill this commitment). The goal of "increasing productivity" is also unclear. Increasing productivity can sometimes be at odds with safety. Information about how increased productivity is achieved would be useful to shareholders in assessing the ability of the program to reduce risks.

- **J.M. Smucker**: The company announced in its 2018 Corporate Responsibility Report that it would roll out a responsible sourcing program by the end of the year. As of the writing of this report, the program has not yet been publicly announced.
  - "Smucker is taking a further step in its commitment to corporate responsibility with the creation of the Responsible Sourcing function in order to consolidate and enhance our responsible sourcing activities. We will roll out our global Responsible Sourcing Program by the end of calendar year 2018."<sup>102</sup>

Pesticide reduction goals were seldom mentioned as a component of sustainable agriculture. Only one company (Nestlé) included goals for reducing pesticides as part of its sustainability program.

Two companies disclosed that a certain percentage of their priority ingredients are sustainably or responsibly sourced, but do not appear to account for pesticide use. This is an oversight as pesticide use can undermine other common sustainability goals (for example, harming biodiversity).

- **Kellogg**: The company states that the following ingredients are responsibly sourced at given percentages of the supply chain.<sup>103</sup> However, the metrics used to determine these levels are not outlined in this reporting. Without disclosure of these metrics, it is impossible to know whether a reduction in synthetic pesticide use is part of the criteria for a crop to be responsibly sourced. Clarity on this issue is important.
  - Corn: 96%
  - Potatoes: 90%

- Rice: 92%
- Wheat: 89%
- **General Mills**: The company also claims that the following ingredients are responsibly sourced at given percentages of the supply chain<sup>104</sup> without providing clarity on pesticide use. The company has recently committed to report pesticide use data for a percentage of its oats supply chain through its regenerative agriculture program, but it does not appear that this commitment has any relation to the company's responsible sourcing claims.
  - Corn: 82%
  - U.S. Wheat: 74%
  - Oats: 90%

#### Notable Practices:

**Nestlé's** Responsible Sourcing Standard for suppliers stands out for its comprehensiveness and level of detail. Its standard includes several important components:

- 1. Requirement that all suppliers demonstrate either full compliance with all guidelines, or continuous improvement toward full compliance.
- 2. Guidelines for the use of agrochemicals which goes above and beyond current regulatory requirements.
  - a. Requirement that suppliers do not use chemicals of concern, including those listed on Stockholm POP or Rotterdam PIC lists, or categorized as WHO class 1a or 1b
  - b. Disallows prophylactic use of pesticides

Nestlé does not provide metrics for measuring or reporting supplier pesticide use, which would strengthen this requirement.

## 7. Crop-specific Sourcing Programs

Rather than addressing supplier standards as a whole, some companies have responded to pressure from consumers, investors, and public interest organizations by implementing sustainability programs for specific high-risk crop supply chains such as palm oil, coffee, and cocoa. Such programs can provide a baseline for future action, providing experience in defining, implementing, and measuring supplier standards and compliance. In most instances, the ability to implement a sustainability program for palm oil, for example, may better position a company to implement a program for more common commodity crops like wheat, oats, or corn. Such programs often have third-party certification systems. Knowing whether a company uses such systems, and why or why not, can clarify its evaluation and management process for suppliers.

#### **Question:**

This question asks whether companies have a sustainable/responsible sourcing program for one or more specific crop(s) and whether such program(s) include third party auditing or certification.

#### Discussion:

After reviewing results for all companies, no points were awarded for this question. While it is useful to know whether companies have sustainable sourcing programs in place for specialty crops, these programs do not appear to be tied to broader supply chains, and do not shed light on whether companies are taking action to reduce pesticide use.

All companies surveyed except one (B&G Foods) have at least one such program in place.

Palm oil is the most common crop for which companies have established sourcing guidelines. All companies with a commodity-specific program have a process in place for sustainable sourcing of palm oil. Some companies have an additional program(s) for other important or high-risk crops.

The Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) has been engaged by most major food manufacturers to provide certification, making the program of implementation and oversight easier for companies. Historically the RSPO's standards have been criticized as too weak,<sup>105</sup> the organization strengthened its standards in 2018. However, problems remain and the organization has been called out<sup>106</sup> for failure to suspend a member company that continually violates RSPO's policies and the law. These challenges demonstrate that improving sustainability is an ongoing process that requires consistent attention and improvements.

## 8. Membership in Industry Sustainability Collaborative Groups

Industry collaborative groups can provide support and information for companies when they are working to implement sustainability initiatives. One prominent group is *Field to Market*. *Field to Market* defines itself as "a diverse collaboration working to create productive and profitable opportunities across the agricultural value chain for continuous improvements in environmental outcomes."<sup>107</sup> The group, comprised of corporations, business associations, agrochemical producers, and civil society, provides a framework for measuring continuous improvement in sustainable agriculture. However, that framework does not explicitly measure pesticide use.<sup>108</sup> If companies rely only on the *Field to Market* tools to define how they pursue progress toward sustainable supply chains, they are likely missing this significant component. Understanding whether a company belongs to an industry collaborative provides information to shareholders about a company's intent to reduce the impact of its agricultural supply chains, and improve its reputation and standing, as well as the potential limitations it may exhibit along its journey.

#### **Questions:**

This question asks whether the company is a member of a sustainable agriculture collaborative, and if so, which one(s).

## Aggregate Company Scores: Industry Sustainability Collaborative Membership



## Discussion:

Eight of the 14 companies surveyed disclose membership in at least one sustainable agriculture collaborative. From the companies surveyed, *Field to Market* was the group with the most members, with four companies describing themselves as members. *SAI Platform* had nearly as many with three member companies. Other groups mentioned include *Sustainability Consortium, Midwest Row Crop Collaborative, and Canadian Field Print*. Groups like these are an important part of advancing sustainability in agricultural supply chains, but readily available information indicates that no collaborative incorporates pesticides into its work.

## Notable Practices:

Industry sustainability collaboratives are notable for the tools they provide for the measurement of key metrics by farm or supply chain groups, yet the absence of metrics for pesticide use are concerning. Companies that want to measure and reduce the chemicals being used on farms, and better understand how to effectively do so, must either create their own path or look outside industry collaboratives to the broad range of groups whose mission is to help farmers and food companies reduce their impact on people and the planet.

#### 9. Regenerative Agriculture

Regenerative agriculture has emerged as a promising framework for solving some of the most critical problems associated with conventional agricultural practices. Regenerative systems aim to not only reduce the negative environmental and economic impacts that result from agriculture, but actively improve soil health, biodiversity, and farmer profitability, while increasing the ability of soil to capture and retain carbon.

Regenerative agriculture has the potential to transform the agricultural system — from reducing the risks related to pesticide use (by significantly reducing the need for pesticides), to ensuring that agricultural land is arable for the long-term and is productive not only for growing necessary crops, but for storing carbon and sustaining the livelihoods of farmers.

#### **Questions:**

This question asks companies whether they have instituted a regenerative agriculture program. If so, does the company disclose definitions and guidelines for the program; and has the company established relevant targets for supplier adoption.

# Aggregate Company Scores: Regenerative Agriculture Program



#### Discussion:

In scoring this question, points were given for programs that align with the goals and principles of a regenerative agriculture framework, regardless of whether companies use the term regenerative.

Only one company in the survey (General Mills) has implemented a regenerative agriculture program. We received feedback from other companies that believe their existing sustainable agriculture initiatives should qualify as regenerative agriculture. We have differentiated these programs due to regenerative agriculture's particular focus on soil health and farming systems.<sup>109</sup> Given the soil damage done by conventional agriculture for decades, it is important to consider solutions that reverse some of these effects. Regenerative agriculture's focus on "agriculture that protects and *intentionally enhances* natural resources and farming communities"<sup>110</sup> (emphasis added) is significant enough to call out separately. Below are examples of sustainable agriculture claims which are considered insufficient to earn points as "regenerative" programs.

**Kellogg**: "We're also looking at the bigger picture, finding ways to conserve natural resources in the cereal-making process. By 2020, Kellogg aims to reduce energy and greenhouse gas emissions by 15%, and implement water reuse projects in 25% of plants."

While these commitments are important for reducing impacts to resources, they do not clearly contribute to improving the health of farmland for the future.

**PepsiCo**: "Our aim is to ensure PepsiCo has continued access to the key agricultural raw materials necessary to supply growing consumer needs while respecting the environment and communities involved in producing those raw materials."<sup>111</sup>

While this statement acknowledges the importance of considering environmental and community impacts, it does not clearly address the importance of enhancing soil and other critical components of the farm system currently damaged by pesticide, water, and land-intensive practices.

#### Notable Practices:

General Mills' regenerative agriculture initiative is commendable for several reasons.

- 1. It clearly outlines the program's goals, principles, and the guidelines that participating suppliers are expected to follow.
- 2. It includes a target for participating suppliers (by acreage) and a timeline: one million acres by 2030.
- 3. It offers support to farmers to help them transition, in the form of educational trainings and one-onone technical support.
- 4. It includes specific quantitative metrics through which the company will be able to report annual data and demonstrate trends.

# RECOMMENDATIONS

# Investors

Investors have the power to push corporations to promote sustainable business practices that consider all stakeholders and encourage long-term value. In the case of pesticides, investors can encourage corporations to invest in robust strategies to reduce the use of chemical pesticides in agricultural supply chains. Establishing benchmarks for measuring performance and progress is an important step; the benchmarks outlined in this report can be used for this means.

# Corporations

Major food corporations will be well served by responding to the rapidly changing business environment where they are valued not only for their financial returns, but how they impact communities, consumers, workers, and the environment. Pesticides have negative impacts on a wide range of stakeholders. Food companies must assess the full range of risks related to the pesticide use in supply chains – from reputational to health and environmental risks -- and take meaningful steps to reduce them. These steps should include the following:

- 1. Publicly commit to reducing pesticide use in agricultural supply chains. Prioritizing core ingredient crops is a logical first step.
- 2. Outline strategies for pesticide use reduction, including targets, timelines, and metrics for measuring progress year-over-year.
  - a. If these strategies include Integrated Pest Management, Regenerative Agriculture or other common terms, it is particularly important to establish clear definitions and outline specific supplier goals, or requirements, to differentiate from other uses of the same terms.
  - b. We recommend using a tiered approach that prioritizes the reduction or elimination of highest risk chemicals with the most urgency. The Chemical Footprint Project provides an example of a procedure for prioritizing chemicals (which the Project refers to as Chemicals of High Concern) by checking against national and international authorities.
- 3. Clarify sustainable sourcing goals to incorporate pesticide use reduction. Avoid making sustainable sourcing claims that do not account for pesticide use.
- 4. Invest in agricultural methods that not only limit or eliminate chemical pesticide use, but improve the health of soil and provide alternative solutions to pest management, such as regenerative agriculture.

In addition to these methods, companies can use their membership in industry sustainability collaboratives to advocate for technical assistance providers to establish methods for tracking and reporting pesticide use. By working in partnership with academics, non-governmental organizations, and other industry members, companies can work to develop solutions to the current challenges in reducing supply chain pesticide use.

# Policy

Policymakers are charged with ensuring that regulatory decisions are made with public health as the first priority. As such they should ensure the widest sourcing of studies on health and environmental impacts, including studies beyond those offered by applicants when considering approval or continued use of pesticides. As new agrochemicals are constantly being produced and introduced to the market, it is difficult to assess their long-term effects. The precautionary principle provides a sounder approach to risk management. Utilized by other developed nations, this principle states that in the case of uncertain outcomes, it is important to protect against negative risks. In doing so, regulators consider a new chemical potentially harmful until scientists have proven its safety.

# Consumers

Consumers have the power to "vote with their wallets." Consumers can let food companies know their values and preferences with regard to reduced pesticide use that is safer for consumers, farmworkers, and the environment. Consumers can choose brands that support transparency in food production and pesticide-free ingredient sourcing. When consumers are faced with package claims about sustainability, it is important to consider whether the company producing that product has clearly demarcated the meaning of its claims. Where possible, consumers can also purchase products that are certified organic, which disallows the use of synthetic pesticides.

# **CONCLUSION**

Given the myriad risks the use of pesticides creates for the environment, public health, consumers, and corporations, it is time for investors to amplify solutions that promote long-term sustainability. Agricultural supply chains will face increasing challenges as the impacts of climate change continue to unfold; it is critical that companies that rely on these supply chains take action now to prepare for these challenges and mitigate risk. This scorecard provides suggestions for meaningful corporate action to reduce pesticide use in agricultural supply chains. By taking steps to shift the food system away from toxic chemicals and towards practices which promote healthy soil, biodiversity, and farmer resilience, corporations have an opportunity to live up to their responsibility to all stakeholders, protect themselves from litigation and regulatory risk, and gain the trust of consumers and the public.

# **APPENDIX** A

# **Scorecard Survey Questions**

Note: 1 point awarded for each question, except questions 7 and 7a (for which no points were given)

- 1. Do you have a stated policy to reduce the use of synthetic pesticides in your agricultural supply chains?
  - a. Do you publicly describe the methods used to achieve the goals of your policy?
  - b. Does your commitment encompass all suppliers?
  - c. Do you measure the effectiveness of your program in achieving the goal of reduced pesticide use?
- 2. Do you have a specific commitment, target, or goal to reduce synthetic pesticides?
  - a. Is the policy time-bound?
  - b. Does your policy include prioritization of chemicals for reduction?
- 3. Do you track pesticide use in your agricultural supply chains?
  - a. Do you require suppliers to provide quantitative data about their pesticide use?
  - b. Is supplier pesticide use data audited by a third party?
  - c. Do you disclose data to investors and/or the public?
- 4. Do you have a supplier standard regarding the use of glyphosate-based herbicides?
  - a. Does your standard include reduction of glyphosate use pre-harvest?
  - b. Do you track suppliers' use of glyphosate?
- 5. Do you have an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) program applicable to suppliers?
  - a. Are the definitions and guidelines of your IPM program public?
  - b. Do the program's guidelines include reduction of synthetic pesticides?
  - c. Is adoption of IPM required of suppliers?
  - d. Do you have outlined targets for IPM adoption?
  - e. Do you report on supplier implementation of IPM?
- 6. Do you have a sustainable sourcing program for agricultural supply chains?
  - a. Are the definitions and guidelines of your sustainable sourcing program public?
  - b. Is your sustainable sourcing program required of all suppliers?
  - c. Do you have outlined targets for the adoption of the program?
  - d. Does your sustainable sourcing program include targets or goals for the reduction of synthetic pesticide use?
  - e. Do you collect information to measure the effectiveness of your program?
- 7. Do you have a sustainable sourcing program for one particular crop (e.g. palm oil, coffee)?
  - a. Do you use third party certification related to this program?
- 8. Are you a member of an industry agricultural sustainability collective?
- 9. Do you have a regenerative agriculture program?
  - a. Are the definitions and guidelines of your regenerative agriculture program public?
  - b. Do you have targets for supplier adoption of regenerative agriculture practices?

# **ENDNOTES**

- Donald Atwood and Claire Paisley-Jones, "Pesticides Industry Sales and Usage: 2008-2012 Market Estimates," Biological and Economic Analysis Division, Office of Pesticide Programs, Office of Chemical Safety & Pollution Prevention, EPA, 2017,
  - https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-01/documents/pesticides-industry-sales-usage-2016\_0.pdf.
- 3. Ibid.
- 4. "Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, DHHS, 2009, https://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/pdf/fourthreport.pdf.
- S. Parvez et al., "Glyphosate Exposure in Pregnancy and Shortened Gestational Length: A Prospective Indiana Birth Cohort Study," *Environmental Health*, 17:23, 9 March 2018, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29519238.
- 6. Charles M. Benbrook, "How did the US EPA and IARC Reach Diametrically Opposed Conclusions on the Genotoxicity of Glyphosate-based Herbicides?" Environmental Health Sciences Europe, 24 January 2019, https://enveurope.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s12302-018-0184-7.
- Tim Loh and Joel Rosenblatt, "Bayer's \$2 Billion Roundup Damages Boost Pressure to Settle," *Bloomberg*, 14 May 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-05-13/bayer-loses-its-third-trial-over-claims-roundup-causes-cancer.
- 8. Olga Naidenko Ph. D, and Alexis Temkin Ph. D., "Glyphosate Contamination in Food Goes Far Beyond Oat Products," Environmental Working Group, 28 February 2019, https://www.ewg.org/news-and-analysis/2019/02/glyphosate-contamination-food-goes-far-beyond-oat-products.
- Laura N. Vandenberg et al., "Is it Time to Reassess Current Safety Standards for Glyphosate-based Herbicides?" 20 March 2017, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5484035/pdf/jech-2016-208463.pdf.
- "Where is Glyphosate Banned?" Baum Hedlund Law, accessed October 2019, https://www.baumhedlundlaw.com/toxic-tort-law/monsanto-roundup-lawsuit/where-is-glyphosate-banned/.
- 11. Ibid.
- Petition to Modify the Tolerance of Glyphosate in Oats to 0.1ppm and Require Glyphosate-Containing Product Labels to Explicitly Prohibit the use of Glyphosate as a Preharvest Desiccant, Environmental Working Group, Filed September 27, 2018, https://cdn3.ewg.org/sites/default/files/Glyphosate%20Petition%20Final%20.pdf?\_ga=2.149341110.1808919085.1539882425-1374321464.1536083250.
- "Environmental and Public Interest Groups Demand EPA Revoke Monsanto's License to Pollute," Green America, 26 June 2019, https://www.greenamerica.org/press-release/environmental-and-public-interest-groups-demand-epa-banglyphosate?eType=EmailBlastContent&eld=fad961b2-a39d-47a1-95bc-11e464225561.
- 14. "H.R. 1783," Congress.gov, introduced 14 March 2019, https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/1783/text.
- Michael C.R. Alavanja, Jane A. Hoppin, and Freya Kamel, "Human Effects of Chronic Pesticide Exposure: Cancer and Neurotoxicity," *Annual Review of Public Health*, Vol 25:155-197 (21 April, 2004), https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.25.101802.123020#\_i34.
- 16. "Linda S. Birnbaum: Researchers Find New Risks in Low-Dose Chemical Exposure," *American Association for the Advancement of Science*, 12 June 2012, https://www.aaas.org/news/linda-s-birnbaum-researchers-find-new-risks-low-dose-chemical-exposure.
- 17. Carolyn Crist, "Occupational Pesticide Exposure May Raise Heart Risk," *Reuters*, 30 September 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-cardiovascular-pesticides/occupational-pesticide-exposure-may-raise-heart-risk-idUSKBN1WF1X7.
- Robyn C. Gilden, Katie Huffling, and Barbara Sattler, "Pesticides and Health Risks," Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 07 January 2010, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2009.01092.x.
- Danielle Sedbrook, "2,4-D: The Most Dangerous Pesticide You've Never Heard of," NRDC, 15 March 2016, https://www.nrdc.org/stories/24-d-most-dangerous-pesticide-youve-never-heard.
- "Endocrine Disruptors," National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Institutes of Health, accessed October 2019, https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/agents/endocrine/index.cfm.
- 21. Robyn C. Gilden, Katie Huffling, and Barbara Sattler, "Pesticides and Health Risks," *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 07 January 2010, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2009.01092.x.
- Irva Hertz-Picciotto, et al., "Organophosphate Exposures During Pregnancy and Child Neurodevelopment: Recommendations for Essential Policy Reforms," PLOS Medicine, 24, October 2018, https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1002671.
- 23. "EWG's 2019 Shopper's Guide to Pesticides in Produce," Environmental Working Group, 20, March 2019, https://www.ewg.org/foodnews/summary.php#dirty-dozen.
- 24. "Toxic Secret: Pesticides Uncovered in Store Brand Cereal, Beans, Produce," Friends of the Earth, accessed October 2019, https://foe.org/food-testing-results/.
- 25. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780124017160000209
- GM Calvert et al., "Acute Pesticide Poisoning Among Agricultural Workers in the United States, 1998-2005," US National Library of Medicine National Institute of Health, December 2008, 51(12):883-98, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18666136.
- 27. "Advocacy Campaign: Protecting People from Pesticides," Earth Justice, accessed October 2019, https://earthjustice.org/advocacy-campaigns/pesticides.
- "Exposed and Ignored: How Pesticides are Endangering Our Nation's Farmworkers," Farmworker Justice, 2013, https://www.farmworkerjustice.org/sites/default/files/aExposed%20and%20Ignored%20by%20Farmworker%20Justice%20singles%20compres sed.pdf.

- Sabina Hyseni, "Understanding the Impacts of Pesticides on Children: A Discussion Paper," Unicef, January 2018, https://www.unicef.org/csr/files/Understanding\_the\_impact\_of\_pesticides\_on\_children-\_Jan\_2018.pdf.
- Jianghong Liu and Erin Schelar, "Pesticide Exposure and Child Neurodevelopment: Summary and Implications," US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, Workplace Health Safety, 2012 May: 60(5): 235-243, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4247335/.
- 31. Sabina Hyseni, "Understanding the Impacts of Pesticides on Children: A discussion Paper," Unicef, January 2018, https://www.unicef.org/csr/files/Understanding\_the\_impact\_of\_pesticides\_on\_children-\_Jan\_2018.pdf.
- Caroline Winter and Tim Loh, "Roundup Verdict, Bayer's Monsanto Purchase Looks Worse," *Bloomberg Businessweek*, 18 September 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2019-09-19/bayer-s-monsanto-purchase-looks-worse-with-each-roundup-verdict.
- David Meyer, "Bayer Has Now Lost Over 44% Of Its Value Since Its Monsanto Merger," Fortune, 14 May 2019, https://fortune.com/2019/05/14/bayer-stock-monsanto-verdict/.
- 34. Alexis Temkin, Ph. D., "Breakfast with a Dose of Roundup?" Environmental Working Group, 15 August 2018, https://www.ewg.org/childrenshealth/glyphosateincereal/.
- 35. MA Beketov, et al, "Pesticides Reduce Regional Biodiversity of Stream Invertebrates," US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, 2 July 2013; 110(27): 110393-43, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=10.1073%2Fpnas.1305618110.
- Adam Wernick, "Three Major Pesticides are Likely to Harm Nearly all US Endangered Species," *PRI*, 5 February 2017, https://www.pri.org/stories/2017-02-05/three-major-pesticides-are-likely-harm-nearly-all-us-endangered-species.
- Larissa Walker, "Pollinators & Pesticides," Center for Food Safety, September 2013, https://www.centerforfoodsafety.org/files/pollinatorreport\_final\_19155.pdf.
- 38. https://xerces.org/pollinator-conservation/model-local-resolution
- Warren Cornwall, "Common Weed Killer Believed Harmless to Animals May be Harming Bees Worldwide," Science, 24 September 2018, https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2018/09/common-weed-killer-believed-harmless-animals-may-be-harming-bees-worldwide.
- Susan Cosier, "The World Needs Topsoil to Grow 95% of its Food But it's Rapidly Disappearing," The Guardian, 30 May 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2019/may/30/topsoil-farming-agriculture-food-toxic-america.
- Kendra Klein, Ph. D., "Pesticides and Soil Health," Friends of the Earth, June 2019, https://1bps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf.
- 42. "Understanding Resistance," *Pesticide Environmental Stewardship*, Accessed October 2019, https://pesticidestewardship.org/resistance/understanding-resistance/.
- Jennifer Sass, "Regulatory Failures = Superweeds and Glyphosate Cancers," NRDC, 11 April 2019, https://www.nrdc.org/experts/jennifer-sass/regulatory-failures-superweeds-and-glyphosate-cancers.
- 44. Johnathan Hettinger, "Last Year it was Dicamba, This Year it's 2,4-D," *Ap News*, 29, March 2019, https://www.apnews.com/9eaf78c201294db38f4483e64108189e.
- "Weed and Insect Resistance A Growing Problem," University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Cropwatch, 20 January 2015, https://cropwatch.unl.edu/weed-and-insect-resistance-growing-problem.
- 46. "July 15 Dicamba Injury Update. Different Year, Same Questions," University of Missouri, Integrated Pest Management, 19 July 2018, https://ipm.missouri.edu/IPCM/2018/7/July-15-Dicamba-injury-update-different-year-same-questions/
- Donald Atwood and Claire Paisley-Jones, "Pesticides Industry Sales and Usage: 2008-2012 Market Estimates," Biological and Economic Analysis Division, Office of Pesticide Programs, Office of Chemical Safety & Pollution Prevention, EPA, 2017, https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-01/documents/pesticides-industry-sales-usage-2016\_0.pdf.
- David Pimentel, et al., "Environmental and Economic Costs of Pesticide Use," JSTOR, Vol 42. No. 10 (November 1992), pp. 750-760, https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1311994.pdf?seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents.
- Kristina Hubbard, "The Sobering Details Behind the Latest Seed Monopoly Chart," *Civil Eats*, 11 January 2019, https://civileats.com/2019/01/11/the-sobering-details-behind-the-latest-seed-monopoly-chart/.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. "Farm Loan Delinquencies and Bankruptcies Are Rising," American Farm Bureau Federation, 31 July 2019, https://www.fb.org/market-intel/farm-loan-delinquencies-and-bankruptcies-are-rising.
- 52. Martin Lechenet, et al., "Reducing Pesticide Use While Preserving Crop Productivity and Profitability on Arable Farms," Nature.com, 01 March 2017, https://www.nature.com/articles/nplants20178.
- Claire E. LaCanne and Jonathan G. Lundgren, "Regenerative Agriculture: Merging Farming and Natural Resource Conservation Profitability," US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, 26 February 2018, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5831153/.
- Damian Carrington, "UN Experts Denounce 'Myth' Pesticides are Necessary to Feed the World," *The Guardian*, 7 March 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2017/mar/07/un-experts-denounce-myth-pesticides-are-necessary-to-feed-the-world.
- 55. "Fact Sheet: The Economic Challenge Posed by Declining Pollinator Species," Office of the Press Secretary, The White House, 20 June 2014, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2014/06/20/fact-sheet-economic-challenge-posed-declining-pollinator-populations.
- "Pesticide Exposures," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Accessed October 2019, https://ephtracking.cdc.gov/showPesticidesExposuresLanding.action.
- 57. Charles M. Benbrook, "How did the US EPA and IARC Reach Diametrically Opposed Conclusions on the Genotoxicity of Glyphosate-based Herbicides?" Environmental Health Sciences Europe, 24 January 2019, https://enveurope.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s12302-018-0184-7.
- 58. Jennifer Sass, Ph. D., and Mae Wu, J.D., "Superficial Safeguards: Most Pesticides Are Approved by Flawed EPA Process," NRDC Issue Brief, March 2013, https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/flawed-epa-approval-process-IB.pdf.

59. Ibid.

- "Roundup Revealed: Glyphosate in Our Food System," As You Sow, https://www.asyousow.org/reports/roundup-revealed-glyphosate-in-our-food-system.
- 61. M Antoniou, "Teratogenic Effects of Glyphosate-based Herbicides: Divergence of Regulatory Decisions from Scientific Evidence," *Environmental & Analytical Toxicology*, June 2012, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258409685\_Teratogenic\_Effects\_of\_Glyphosate-Based\_Herbicides\_Divergence\_of\_Regulatory\_Decisions\_from\_Scientific\_Evidence.
- Lee Fang, "The Pesticide Industry vs. Consumers: Not a Fair Fight," *The Nation*, 11 March 2014, https://www.thenation.com/article/pesticide-industry-vs-consumers-not-fair-fight/.
- Robert Faturechi and Danielle Ivory, "An Open Door for Pesticide Lobbyists at the U.S.D.A.," The New York Times, 13 November 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/13/business/trump-regulations-usda-lobbyists.html.
- "From Crop to Table Pesticide Report," Consumer Reports, March 2015, https://advocacy.consumerreports.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/CR\_FSASC\_FromCroptoTablePesticides\_Mar2015-4.pdf.
- 65. Nathan Donley, "The USA Lags Behind Other Agricultural Nations in Banning Harmful Pesticides," *Environmental Health*, 18, Article: 44 (2019), https://ehjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12940-019-0488-0.
- 66. Brady Dennis and Juliet Eilperin, "California to Ban Controversial Pesticide, Citing Effects on Child Brain Development," Washington Post, 08 May 2019, https://www.washingtonpost.com/climate-environment/2019/05/08/california-ban-controversial-pesticide-citing-effect-child-braindevelopment/#targetText=Last%20year%2C%20Hawaii%20became%20the,take%20chlorpyrifos%20off%20the%20market.
- 67. Ibid.
- 68. Oliver Milman, "Weedkiller Found in Wide Range of Breakfast Foods Aimed at Children," *The Guardian*, 16 August 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2018/aug/16/weedkiller-cereal-monsanto-roundup-childrens-food.
- 69. Olga Naidenko Ph. D, and Alexis Temkin Ph. D., "In New Round of Tests, Monsanto's Weedkiller Still Contaminates Foods Marketed to Children, Environmental Working Group, 12 June 2019, https://www.ewg.org/childrenshealth/monsanto-weedkiller-still-contaminates-foods-marketed-to-children/.
- "The National List," Rules and Regulations, United States Department of Agriculture, Accessed October 2019, https://www.ams.usda.gov/rules-regulations/organic/national-list.
- 71. "Overview," Organic Agriculture, United States Department of Agriculture, Accessed October 2019, https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/natural-resources-environment/organic-agriculture/.
- 72. "Integrated Pest Management Principles," Environmental Protection Agency, Accessed September 2019, https://www.epa.gov/safepestcontrol/integrated-pest-management-ipm-principles.
- "What is Integrated Pest Management?," Beyond Pesticides, Accessed September 2019, https://beyondpesticides.org/resources/safety-source-on-pesticide-providers/what-is-integrated-pest-management.
- 74. https://www.cropscience.bayer.us/learning-center/articles/integrated-pest-management-for-corn-insects
- 75. "Weed Control in No-Till Systems," AG Professional, 07 November 2013, https://www.agprofessional.com/article/weed-control-no-till-systems.
- 76. Kendra Klein, Ph. D., "Pesticides and Soil Health," Friends of the Earth, June 2019, https://lbps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf.
- Claire E. LaCanne and Jonathan G. Lundgren, "Regenerative Agriculture: Merging Farming and Natural Resource Conservation Profitability," US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, 26 February 2018, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5831153/.
- 78. "Del Monte Foods 2018 Sustainability Report," Del Monte, Accessed October 2019, https://www.delmontefoods.com/sites/default/files/pdf/2017-09/del\_monte\_2018\_sustainability\_report.pdf
- "Pesticides, Food Safety & Ecosystem Health," General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Sustainability/Pesticides.
- 80. "Pepsico Statement on Pesticides and Other Agrochemicals," Pepisco, Accessed October 2019, https://www.pepsico.com/sustainability/pesticides.
- 81. "Nurturing Nature," Del Monte, Accessed October 2019 https://www.delmontepacific.com/sustainability/nurturing-nature.
- "Pesticides, Food Safety & Ecosystem Health," General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Sustainability/Pesticides.
- 83. Ibid.
- "Sustainable Agriculture," LambWeston, Accessed October 2019, https://www.lambweston.eu/sustainability/the-sustainable-seven/sustainable-agriculture.html.
- 85. Unilever is not scored in this report because it does not primarily produce food products.
- "Unilever Global Guidelines on Use of Pesticides in Sustainable Tea Sourcing," March 2014, https://www.unilever.com/Images/unilever\_guidelines\_on\_use\_of\_pesticides\_in\_sustainable\_tea\_sourcing\_2014\_tcm244-424148\_en.pdf.
- "Pesticides, Food Safety & Ecosystem Health," General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Sustainability/Pesticides.
- "Wheat," Impact, Mondelez International, Accessed October 2019, https://www.mondelezinternational.com/impact/sustainable-resources-and-agriculture/agricultural-supply-chain/wheat.
- "2019 Kellogg Grower Survey, English," http://crreport.kelloggcompany.com/download/2019+Kellogg+Grower+Survey+--+English.pdf (automatic PDF download)
- 90. "Sustainable Agriculture," LambWeston, Accessed October 2019, https://www.lambweston.eu/sustainability/the-sustainable-seven/sustainable-agriculture.html.

- "2019 Kellogg Grower Survey, English" Pg. 5-6 http://crreport.kelloggcompany.com/download/2019+Kellogg+Grower+Survey+--+English.pdf (automatic PDF download)
- 92. "Pepsico Statement on Pesticides and Other Agrochemicals," Pepisco, Accessed October 2019, https://www.pepsico.com/sustainability/pesticides.
- 93. Global Responsibility Report 2019, General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Overview.
- 94. "Creating Better Days, 2018/2019 Corporate Responsibility Report," Kellogg's, Accessed October 2019, http://crreport.kelloggcompany.com/cr-report.
- 95. "Nurturing Nature," Del Monte, Accessed October 2019 https://www.delmontepacific.com/sustainability/nurturing-nature.
- 96. "Responsible Sourcing Supplier Code," Campbells Soup Company, January 2018, Accessed October 2019, https://www.campbellsoupcompany.com/wpcontent/uploads/sites/31/2018/02/Responsible-Sourcing-Supplier-Code-Updated-January-2018-.pdf.
- 97. "Delivering a Better Tomorrow," Sysco, 2018, https://csr2018report.sysco.com/Sysco\_2018\_CSR.pdf.
- "Conagra Brands Citizenship Report 2018," Responsible Sourcing Section, page 26, https://www.conagrabrands.com/sites/g/files/qyyrlu371/files/2019-05/2018\_Conagra\_Brands\_Citizenship\_Report\_0.pdf#page=26.
- "Code of Conduct for Suppliers," Conagra Brands, Inc., January 2017, Accessed October 2019, https://www.conagrabrands.com/sites/g/files/qyyrlu371/files/2017-07/Supplier\_Code\_of\_Conduct.pdf.
- 100. "Growing a Better World at Kraft Heinz, 2017 Corporate Social Responsibility Report, Accessed October 2017, https://www.kraftheinzcompany.com/pdf/KHC\_CSR\_2017\_Full.pdf.
- 101. Arthur Neslen, "Ben & Jerry's to Launch Glyphosate-free Ice-Cream After Tests Find traces of Weedkiller," The Guardian, 09 October 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2017/oct/09/ben-jerrys-to-launch-glyphosate-free-ice-cream-after-tests-find-traces-of-weedkiller.
- "2018 Corporate Responsibility Report," The J.M. Smucker Company, Accessed October 2019, https://jmsmucker.gcs-web.com/static-files/5fb271b7-82f1-4c99-b584-06f1ff3e3faf.
- 103. "Responsible Sourcing Ingredients," Kellogg's, Accessed October 2019, http://crreport.kelloggcompany.com/responsible-sourcing-ingredients.
- 104. "Responsibility: Sustainable Sourcing," General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Sustainability/sustainable-sourcing.
- 105. "Over 60 NGOs Call for Stronger Reforms to the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) Standards," Mighty Earth, 16 July 2018, http://www.mightyearth.org/over-60-ngos-call-for-stronger-reforms-to-the-roundtable-on-sustainable-palm-oil-rspo-standards/.
- Robin Averbeck, "Opinion: Why Players Such as RSPO Matter to the Global Climate," Devex, 05 December 2018, https://www.devex.com/news/opinion-why-players-such-as-rspo-matter-to-the-global-climate-93930.
- 107. Home Page, Field to Market, Accessed September 2019, https://fieldtomarket.org/.
- "Pesticides in the Fieldprint Platform® and Field to Market Metrics," Field to Market, June 2017, http://fieldtomarket.org/media/2018/11/Metric-Focus-How-Pest-Management-Impacts-Scores.pdf.
- 109. Kendra Klein, Ph. D., "Pesticides and Soil Health," Friends of the Earth, June 2019, https://1bps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf.
- "Pesticides, Food Safety & Ecosystem Health," General Mills, Accessed October 2019, https://www.generalmills.com/en/Responsibility/Sustainability/Pesticides.
- 111. "PepsiCo Global Sustainable Agriculture Policy," PepsiCo, October 2016, https://www.pepsico.com/docs/album/esg-topics-policies/pepsico-sustainable-agirculture-policy.pdf?sfvrsn=201f5573\_6.
- 112. "Home Page," Home Page, The Chemical Footprint Project, Accessed October 2019, https://www.chemicalfootprint.org/.



©2019 • 1611 Telegraph Ave. Suite 1450 • Oakland, CA 94612